1967

# Mary Hathaway v. Jay L. Marx, Floyd A. Marx, D/ B/A Carbon Animal By-Products Company, and Luey Haddock : Brief of Appellant

### STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by the owner-driver of an automobile for injuries arising out of an automobile accident which occurred June 27, 1961, at approximately 11:30 A.M. o'clock, on Highway 40. A collision occurred in a rural area at a dirt cross road as appellant attempted to pass respondent's truck.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried before the Honorable Joseph P. Nelson, sitting with a jury. The jury brought in a verdict of no cause of action. The Court instructed

the jury that the dirt road turnoff was an intersection. The jury apparently predicated its verdict upon appellant's contributory negligence in passing within 100 feet of an intersection.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the judgment of the lower court as a matter of law upon the grounds that the Court erred in instructing the jury that the site of the accident was at an intersection within the meaning of the statutes of Utah; that passing within 100 feet of an intersection was unlawful. There was also irregularity on the part of a juror who stated to his fellows in the jury room material facts based on personal knowledge concerning material issues in the case which were not adduced in evidence.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was driving west on Highway 40, approximately 10 miles west of Roosevelt, Utah, on the 27th day of June, 1961, at approximately 11:30 o'clock A.M. The weather was clear and visibility was good. Highway 40, at the location of the accident, is relatively straight, and as the Highway approaches the dirt road turnoff from the east, there is a slight descent. About one-half mile to the east of the dirt road, Lake Boren turnoff, there is a crest of a hill so that a motorist traveling westerly is not able to observe the dirt road turnoff until driving over the crest of the hill and on the descent described. Once over the crest of the hill, Highway 40

can be observed for a considerable distance beyond the dirt road turnoff. The Lake Boren turnoff from Highway 40 for a motorist traveling west, as appellant was traveling in this case, is a paved roadway to the north, or to the right, and to the south, or left, there is a dirt road. Exhibit P.5 clearly shows the dirt road described, and Exhibit P. 4 shows the Lake Boren Road.

The testimony is uncontradicted that there were no highway signs, painted lines on the highway, or any marking of any kind to notify a motorist of an intersection at the dirt road turnoff (R. 16, 33). The dirt road, to the south, was sparsely traveled (R. 18-19). The Lake Boren Road was more frequently traveled than the dirt road, particularly during fishing season (R. 23).

Highway 40 on each side of the dirt road—Lake Boren Road is widened with marked lanes for acceleration as shown in Exhibits P. 2, P. 3, and P. 4.

Appellant testified that as she approached defendant's truck from the rear there was no other traffic on the highway, and that she proceeded to pass defendant's truck which was moving at a slow rate of speed. Defendant's truck made no visible signals to indicate a left hand turn as both vehicles approached the vicinity of the dirt road turnoff and appellant was not aware of an intersection. Officer Harrington, state trooper, who investigated the accident, testified that the turn signals on the truck did not work (R. 21), and further, that if they did, they would not be visible because they were covered with dirt

(R. 22). Appellant proceeded to pass defendant's truck, and simultaneously defendant Haddock turned the direction of the truck to make a turn onto the dirt road. The vehicles came to rest in the proximate position shown in Exhibits P. 1, 2, and 3.

Instruction 16 (R. 45) of the trial court stated the following:

**"No vehicle shall at any time be driven to the left side of the road when . . . approaching within 100 feet or on traversing any intersection".**

The trial court defined contributory negligence, then continued in Instruction No. 5, Proposition II 1(b) (R. 37);

**"Plaintiff attempted to pass to the left of a vehicle at an intersection when it was unlawful to do so" (R. 37).**

The appellant objected to the Court giving instructions No. 5 and 16 (R. 165).

### POINT ONE

**THE DIRT ROAD TURNOFF AT THE ACCIDENT SCENE WAS NOT AN INTERSECTION WITHIN THE MEANING AND CONTEMPLATED CONSTRUCTION OF SECTION 41-6-58 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, WHICH PROHIBITS DRIVING ON THE LEFT SIDE OF A ROAD WITHIN 100 FEET OR ON TRAVERSING AN INTERSECTION.**

An intersection is defined in our Motor Vehicle Code as follows:

**"Section 41-6-8. Intersection — Crosswalk — Safety zone, Business, Residence, and Urban Districts (a)**



"Intersection". (1) The area embraced within the prolongation or connection of the lateral curblines, or if none, then the lateral boundary lines of the roadways of two highways which join one another at, or approximately at, right angles, or the area within which vehicles traveling upon different highways joining at any other angle come in conflict."

A Highway is defined as follows:

**"Section 41-6-7. Streets, highways, and roads and portions thereof** (a) Street or Highway. The entire width between the boundary lines of every way publicly maintained when any part thereof is open to the use of the public for purposes of vehicular travel . . ."

The State Road Commission has the authority and obligation to place highway traffic control devices and signs. Section 41-6-20 UCA vests that right with the State Road Commission and directs it to adopt a manual and specifications for a uniform system of traffic-control devices consistent with the provisions of the Motor Vehicle Act. Section 41-6-21 provides as follows:

**"Section 41-6-21. Placing and maintenance upon state highways.** (a) The State Road Commission shall place and maintain such traffic-control devices in conformance with its manual and specifications upon all state highways as it shall deem necessary to indicate and to carry out the provisions of this act or to regulate, warn or guide traffic." (Emphasis added.)

The evidence is uncontradicted that the State Highway Commission did not place any control to regulate, warn, or guide traffic traveling on Highway 40 as that Highway approached the dirt road-

Lake Boren turnoff that an intersection existed. In fact, a motorist passing as appellant did in this case, would only see the dirt road to the left of the highway which would appear as another farm lane.

A double painted line did not warn a motorist that he could not travel to the left hand side of the highway. In the instant case Exhibits P. 3 and P. 4 clearly show that a broken white stripe indicating the middle of the highway was the only marking on the highway. Such a marking did not prohibit passing or traveling to the left hand side of a highway. There were not regulatory signs indicating that the dirt road-Lake Boren turnoff existed or that an intersection even existed. Obviously, the State Road Commission did not classify the dirt road-Lake Boren turnoff as an intersection, for it did not use its authority to notify the public of its existence.

The Utah State Road Commission has adopted a Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices for Streets and Highways/<sup>1</sup> published by the United States Department of Commerce. This manual, so far as it pertains to no passing zones and intersections, provides as follows:

Section C (p. 53) of the Manual provides for the use of warning signs. Section K-10, Cross Road Sign

---

<sup>1</sup>/Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Division for Streets and Highways, prepared by the National Joint Committee on Uniform Traffic Control Devices; American Association of Highway Officials, Institute of Traffic Engineers, National Committee on Uniform Traffic Laws and Ordinances, National Association of County Officials, and American Municipal Association, herein referred to as the "Manual".

(W 2-1) (P. 60) provides:

"The Cross Road sign, showing a vertical cross symbol, shall be erected on a through highway to indicate the presence of a cross road. Its use should be restricted to intersections with roads that are improved to such an extent that there is likely to be a fairly large volume of traffic entering or crossing the through route and where poor sight distance or obscured entrances make it advisable that the intersection be called to the motorists's attention. It should not ordinarily be used where Junction signs (sec. 1D-13) or Advance Turn Arrows (sec. 1D-15) are present. Cross Road signs should not be erected at unimproved intersecting roads. Too frequent use of the Cross Road sign should be avoided."

Part II, "Markings" in the Manual provides under 2A-4 "Types of Markings" (P. 114):

"Markings as defined for the purpose of this manual are of a number of types:

1. Pavement Markings:

- (c) No-passing zone markings (Sec. 2B 7 to 10)".

"2B-8 **No Passing Zones Markings** (P. 123) provides:

"A no-passing zone shall be marked by a solid barrier line placed as the right-hand element of a combination line along the center or lane line. This barrier line shall be yellow.

The barrier line shall be not less than 4 nor more than 6 inches wide, and shall be separated from the adjacent line by a space of not less than 3 nor more than 4 inches."

"2B-9 Application of No-Passing Zones Markings" (P. 123) states:

"On a two-lane highway the combination no-passing line shall follow the center line throughout the no-passing zone . . . In no case shall the marking be less than 500 feet in length. If the actual no-passing distance is less than 500 feet, the additional length of marking shall be added at the beginning of the zone . . . The no-passing barrier line is also used on two-way roadways at pavement-width transitions (sec. 2B-14) and on approaches to obstructions which must be passed on the right (sec. 2B-18). It may also be used on approaches to intersections."

The physical facts are that Highway 40 is wider on each side of the Lake Boren turnoff, but this would not alert a motorist of its being an intersection, for Highway 40 between Soldiers Summit and the Colorado border is widened and narrowed repeatedly with and without markings.

This court has had occasion to consider a similar physical fact situation as the dirt road-Lake Boren turnoff in **Douglas v. Giganden** (1958) 332 Pac. 2d 932, 8 Utah 2d 245. That case involved a motorist who commenced passing a pickup truck who's driver, without warning, commenced to make a left hand turn onto Peters Point Road. There were no highway markings to prohibit passing or were there any regulatory signs indicating the intersection of Peters Point Road with the main highway. This Court rightly held that Peters Point Road was not an intersection within the meaning of our statutes. The same test applies here. The State Road Com-

mission in both situations did not prohibit passing by establishing no-passing zones either through the use of painted markings on the highway or regulatory signs pursuant to its Manual. A traveler using Highway 40 in the vicinity of the dirt road-Lake Boren turnoff would not know the purported intersection by reason of its physical location, i.e. a dirt road cross secting the main highway in a farming community. The State Road Commission would have marked the intersection if in fact it was one. As a matter of law, an intersection did not exist and the trial court erred in instructing the jury as to the law concerning intersections.

## POINT TWO

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY THAT IT WAS UNLAWFUL FOR APPELLANT TO PASS TO THE LEFT OF A VEHICLE AT AN INTERSECTION.**

The Trial Court charged that appellant would be guilty of contributory negligence in Instruction No. 5, Proposition 1 B, to-wit:

“Plaintiff attempted to pass to the left of a vehicle at an intersection when it was not lawful to do so” (R. 37).

This error was further developed in Instruction No. 16 when the Trial Court instructed as follows:

“The laws of the state provide . . . no vehicle at any time should drive to the left side of the road way when approaching . . . within 100 feet or on traversing any intersection . . .”

The dirt road turnoff that defendant's truck was turning into simply was not an intersection within the contemplation of Section 41-6-8 UCA 1953 and was not recognized as such by the State Road Commission for the reasons set forth in Point I, as a matter of law, the above instructions were erroneous.

### POINT THREE

**APPELLANT WAS PRECLUDED FROM HAVING A FAIR TRIAL WHEN A JUROR WITHHELD FROM THE COURT HIS PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE OF THE ACCIDENT BY REASON OF HAPPENING UPON THE SCENE IMMEDIATELY AFTER ITS OCCURRENCE AND SO TESTIFIED TO HIS FELLOW JURORS ON MATERIAL FACTS NOT IN EVIDENCE IN THE JURY ROOM.**

The jury foreman advised counsel for respondent that he happened upon the scene of the accident shortly after its occurrence, and observed Stansfield there and so advised the jury in the jury room. The jury foreman did not advise the Court of his presence at the scene of the accident shortly after it occurred.

Mr. Stansfield, a prospective juror was challenged for cause during the impanelling of the jury and was excused by the Court. Though the court reporter did not record the testimony, counsel for respondent will agree that Mr. Stansfield knew defendants, was their business associate, and a long time personal friend of defendant Haddock; for these relationships, the trial judge granted appellant's counsel challenge for cause.

Mr. Stansfield remained in the courtroom and took the stand on respondents behalf, testifying that he observed the accident by reason of his position as he traveled west on Highway 40 behind appellant. Further, his testimony was contradictory to Trooper Harrington, for he said the signal lights of defendant's vehicle were working and in fact were blinking, indicating a left hand turn just prior to the accident. Upon cross examination it was brought out not only did Mr. Stansfield have a business acquaintance with respondents, but he had a firm opinion that appellant was responsible for the accident originating, supposedly, from his first hand observation of the accident which he withheld from the Court while he was under consideration as a juror (R. 127).

The jury foreman failed to acknowledge upon inquiry by the trial court that he had been at the scene of the accident. The jury foreman told his fellow jurors that he happened upon the scene of the accident shortly after it happened and Mr. Stansfield was present. He knew that Stansfield was telling the truth concerning the left hand turn signals of defendant's truck and that they were properly working. It was material for the jury foreman to acknowledge that he had been at the scene of the accident shortly after its occurrence, for questions could have been put to him as to whether or not he had a preformed opinion concerning the accident and its cause as did Mr. Stansfield (R. 127). The jury foreman stating to his fellows in the jury room that he had been present at the accident and seen Mr. Stansfield was a material fact based upon personal