1967

Mary Hathaway v. Jay L. Marx, Floyd A. Marx, D/ B/A Carbon Animal By-Products Company, and Luey Haddock : Brief of Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED CLEARLY PROVIDES SUFFICIENT BASIS TO SUPPORT A CONCLUSION BY THE JURY THAT THE INTERSECTION OF THE PAVED LAKE BORN ROAD AND THE DIRT ROAD WITH U.S. HIGHWAY 40 WAS AN INTERSECTION AS DEFINED BY THE STATUTES OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

It should first be noted that appellant's Points I and II will be treated jointly under respondents' Point I herein.

The issues as framed by appellant's Points I and II are not a full and complete statement of the issue. The only possible question arising out of the trial in connection with the negligence of the plaintiff for passing within an intersection or within 100 feet thereof as provided in Utah Code Annotated, 41-6-58, is whether or not there is sufficient evidence to support a verdict by the jury that said in-

tersection was in fact an "intersection," as defined in the Utah statutes and as contemplated in the above-cited provision. Of course, there is no way of knowing that the jury even considered this as an element in finding against the plaintiff; however, for the purposes of argument we shall assume that the basis of the jury verdict was the negligence of the plaintiff for passing within an intersection or within 100 feet thereof. The appellant in her Point II merely reiterates her point in Point I, that the meeting of the U.S. Highway 40 and the dirt and paved roads was not an intersection. Obviously, the court was justified in giving an instruction concerning the possible negligence of the plaintiff passing at an intersection if there was any evidence to substantiate the fact that it was an intersection and that she had passed within 100 feet of the intersection. See *Adamson vs. United Mine Workers*, 3 Utah 2nd 37, 177 Pac. 2nd 972 (1954) in regards to the "any evidence" rule. However, before we take up the factual question it should also be pointed out that appellant's Point II is misleading in that it attempts to give the impression that the court instructed as a matter of law that an intersection did exist at that point. The instructions read as a whole and not out of context as the appellant places them shows what the court obviously meant to do was to present to the jury the question of whether or not there was an intersection, and if so, whether or not the plaintiff had attempted to pass within the confines of the

intersection or within 100 feet thereof. The instructions as fully given are as follows:

INSTRUCTION NO. 5

“Even though you find the proposition set forth in the next proceeding instruction in favor of the plaintiff, nevertheless, the claim of the plaintiff may be barred by contributory negligence on her part.

“Before contributory negligence would preclude plaintiff’s recovery, the defendant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the two propositions are true:

PROPOSITION NO. 1

“That the plaintiff was negligent in the operation of her automobile immediately prior to the collision in one or more of the following particulars:

(a) Plaintiff drove at a speed which was greater than was reasonable and prudent under the circumstances;

(b) Plaintiff attempted to pass to the left of a vehicle at an intersection when it was unlawful to do so;

(c) Plaintiff failed to yield the right of way to defendant’s vehicle;

(d) Plaintiff failed to maintain a reasonable lookout for other vehicles on the highway.

PROPOSITION NO. 2

“That the negligence of the plaintiff, if

any, proximately contributed in producing her own injuries and damage.

“If you find the foregoing propositions against the plaintiff, she cannot recover.”

INSTRUCTION NO. 16

“The laws of this state provide that the driver of any vehicle overtaking another vehicle proceeding in the same direction shall pass at a safe distance to the left thereof and shall not again drive to the right side of the roadway until safely clear of the overtaken vehicle.

“The driver shall, when reasonably necessary to insure safe operation, give an audible warning with his horn, but shall not otherwise use such horn.

“No vehicle shall at any time be driven to the left side of the roadway when approaching the crest of a grade or upon a curve in a highway where the driver's view is obstructed within such distance as to create a hazard in the event another vehicle might approach from the opposite direction or when approaching within 100 feet of or traversing any intersection.

“The driver of a motor vehicle shall not follow another vehicle more closely than is reasonable and prudent having due regard to the speed of such vehicle, the traffic upon and the condition of the highway.

“The driver of any vehicle upon a highway, before turning from a direct course or moving right or left upon a roadway, shall first see that the movement can be made with reason-

able safety and whenever the operation of another vehicle may be affected by such movement shall give a signal as required plainly visible to the driver of such other vehicle of the intention to make such movement. The signal herein required shall be given either by means of the hand and arm in the manner herein specified or by approved mechanical electrical signal device, and whenever the signal is given by means of the hand and arm the driver shall indicate his intention by extending the hand and arm horizontally from and beyond the left side of the vehicle.

“A failure to comply with the foregoing requirements would constitute negligence.”

In light of the instructions as given, it is obvious that the instructions merely stated the possible alternatives of negligence which the jury could find, and did not instruct the jury, as the appellant asserts, that there was as a matter of law an intersection at the point of the accident.

However, the evidence and the pleadings on file herein obviously constituted sufficient evidence upon which a jury could find that the meeting of U.S. Highway 40 with the Lake Boren paved and dirt road was an intersection, and that that evidence was also sufficient to justify the court in finding as a matter of law that it was an intersection, had the court been so inclined to do so.

The verdict need only be supported by some competent evidence. The requirement of some competent evidence for that point was clearly satisfied

by the testimony which established the existence of the acceleration and deceleration lanes which extended approximately one-tenth of a mile in both directions from the intersection of U.S. Highway 40 and the Lake Boren paved and dirt roads. The appellant would have the court believe that there were no indications of an intersection and no markings prohibiting passing in that area. The basis of that erroneous assumption appears to be derived from the appellant's reading of the case of *Douglas vs. Gigandet*, 8 Utah 2nd 245, 332 Pac. 2nd 932 (1958). A close examination of that case will show that it does not say what appellant would have it say. In that case the defendant, who was the passing vehicle, had filed a counterclaim against the plaintiff. The trial court entered a no cause of action against all parties. The defendant appealed on the grounds that it was error to instruct that the defendant had a duty to use due care to observe that the vehicle of the plaintiff was approaching at a point at which a side road departed from the highway and also in instructing that the defendant had no right to attempt to pass the plaintiff's vehicle at an intersection. The court held there that the Peters Point Road was not a highway or road, and therefore could not meet the statutory definition of an intersection. That was the extent of the holding of the case. In the court's discussion leading up to its conclusion, the court indicated that there was nothing to indicate a turnoff road from the highway and no markers showing that a road left the highway anywhere in the area.

From this statement of fact the plaintiff appears to evolve a specific test in determining the existence of an intersection. It appears to respondent that the supreme court did not intend such statement as the test, and certainly not as an exclusive test. But even if such statement were the test, the present situation would still fall within that definition since the acceleration and deceleration lanes were an obvious marking on the road from which every observant motorist could conclude that there was a special situation in that area of U.S. Highway 40 allowing for the entrance and exit of vehicles from either side of the Lake Boren Road (TR 34). The appellant herself testified that when she was at the crest of the hill to the north she could see from that point the widened portion of the road in front of her.

The testimony of the police officer shows that the Lake Boren Road to the west of Highway 40 was a paved county road which was publicly traveled and a maintained highway and that stop signs were placed on the east and west sides of the intersection of U.S. Highway 40 and the Lake Boren Roads. He also testified that the dirt portion of the Lake Boren Road, which proceeded east from Highway 40 also was publicly traveled, although not as much as Highway 40 or the paved portion of the Lake Boren Road. Of course, the fact that the dirt and paved portions of the Lake Boren Road were not used to the extent of Highway 40 is not in any way determinative of their status. In the present case the

evidence shows that the two intersecting roads, U.S. Highway 40 and the paved and dirt portion of the Lake Boren Road, both came within the definition of a road or highway as set forth in the Utah Code Annotated 1953, 41-6-7:

“(a) Street or Highway. The entire width between the boundary lines of every way publicly maintained when any part thereof is open to the use of the public for purposes of vehicular travel.”

An examination of the cases set forth in 53 ALR 2nd 861 show that such a road as the Lake Boren Road, where it is partially paved, publicly maintained, and publicly used, is within the classification of a highway or street for the purposes of this lawsuit. Once it is determined that the Lake Boren Road is a highway or road within the statutory contemplation, the problem faced in *Douglas vs. Gigandet* has been resolved.

The statutes of the State of Utah define an intersection as being:

“The area embraced within the prolongation or connection of the lateral curblines, or, if none, then the lateral boundary lines of the roadways of two highways which join one another at, or approximately at, right angles, or the area within which vehicles traveling upon different highways joining at any other angle come in conflict.” Utah Code Annotated 1953, 41-6-8

U.S. Highway 40 and the Lake Boren Road, being roads or highways under the statutory definition, their connection is by definition an intersection

without further proof. However, even if we were to accept the proposition of the plaintiff that an intersection must also have signs and markings so indicating the intersection of roads, the evidence in this case establishes such signs and markings: the widened highway extended on both sides of the intersection with clearly defined acceleration and deceleration lanes proceeding from the intersecting Lake Boren Road, and the existence of stop signs on both sides of U.S. Highway 40 where the dirt and paved portions of the road intersect. It is obvious that any driver attentive to the conditions in front of him as he came over the rise north of the intersection would observe these markings and signs delineating the existence of the two intersecting roads.

The appellant in her Point I attempts to assert that there is no intersection within the statutory contemplation unless the Utah Highway Department has marked the intersection according to the *Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices for Streets and Highways* published by the United States Department of Commerce. First of all, the *Manual*, which appellant freely quotes from in her Brief, was never presented as evidence in this case, and is now being asserted on appeal by the appellant. The *Manual* merely suggests procedures which the Highway Department should adopt. However, it is not in any way connected with the statutory definition of an intersection, and furthermore it is incompetent evidence before the Court at this time. The Court on

many occasions has held that evidence not presented in the case prior to appeal was incompetent and should not be considered on appeal. *Cooper vs. Foresters Underwriters, Inc.*, 257 Pac. 2nd 540, 123 Utah 215, where the court held that it could not look dehors the record on appeal and consider facts stated in briefs but absent from the official record. And also in the case of *Watkins vs. Simonds*, 385 Pac. 2nd 154, 14 Utah 2nd 406, the court held that the appellate court could not consider facts stated in briefs which may be true but which are not present in the official record. The same was held also in the case of *Reliable Furniture Company vs. Fidelity & Guaranty Insurance Underwriters, Inc.*, 380 Pac. 2nd 135, 14 Utah 2nd 169. Respondents concede that the applicable Utah statutes, which the appellant cites, are properly presented to the Court; however, the *Manual* carries no such status and therefore is improper in the appellant's Brief and should be disregarded. The appellant argues in her Point I that the intersection was not marked as the Highway Department may have marked other intersections. The obvious answer to this is that the actions of the State Road Commission do not control the question of whether an intersection exists as defined in the previously cited statute. The State Road Commission has been delegated authority over the control of traffic throughout the state, and how they carry out their obligation is not determinative of the issue before the Court.

The respondents contention, therefore, is that the Lake Boren Road was obviously a public highway, that it created an intersection where it intersected with Highway 40, and that the existence of stop signs and the acceleration and deceleration lanes is additional evidence of such intersection.

It is also interesting to note that the appellant apparently sees this intersection question as a last-minute device to overturn the verdict of the jury, for it appears that prior to the trial the appellant had no doubts as to it being an intersection. In the plaintiff's Complaint in Paragraph Three, the appellant stated:

"That at all times herein alleged, the intersection of Lake Boren Road and U.S. Highway 40 is an intersection approximately ten miles west of Roosevelt, Utah in Duchesne County, Utah. (Emphasis ours)

And in Paragraph Four of said Complaint, the plaintiff stated:

"That on or about the 27th day of June, 1961 at approximately 11:30 A.M. plaintiff was traveling west on U.S. Highway 40 approaching the Lake Boren Road or intersection and the defendant Luey Haddock was traveling west ahead of plaintiff; . . ." (Emphasis ours)

In the trial of the action the appellant's counsel frequently referred to the "intersection," and now the appellant is in the precarious position of questioning on appeal whether the jury was entitled to consider

the intersection as an intersection. And as to Point II previously discussed, the appellant is also in the peculiar position of complaining of the court's instructions wherein reference was made to an intersection, when in fact the appellant had herself submitted a proposed Instruction No. 1, which stated in part:

"That on the 27th day of June, 1961, at approximately 11:30 o'clock A.M. plaintiff was driving west on U.S. Highway 40 and approaching the intersection of Lake Boren Road, Duchesne County."

Had plaintiff's instruction been given, would the plaintiff now be alleging that it was error to give that instruction? And also note plaintiff's Instruction No. 2, which was given in substance by the court in Instruction No. 6, which stated in part:

". . . It is likewise negligence for the driver of a motor vehicle on a public highway to make a left-hand turn when it is unsafe to do so by reason of a vehicle passing to the left or to commence to make a left turn from a public highway to an intersection to fail to see a vehicle on the highway there to be seen."

It appears obvious to the respondents that the junction of the Lake Boren Road and U.S. Highway 40 was an intersection within the contemplation of the law, that it was properly so considered by the jury and even the plaintiff until the jury had returned with its verdict.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL BASED ON JURY MISCONDUCT, THERE BEING NEITHER COMPETENT EVIDENCE BEFORE THE COURT OF SUCH MISCONDUCT NOR A SHOWING OF PREJUDICE TO THE PLAINTIFF'S CASE.

Appellant in her Point III makes a contention which is clearly contrary to the well-established law in the State of Utah in connection with jury misconduct. She appears to allege that the misconduct was on the part of the foreman of the jury in stating to the jurors while deliberating in the jury room that he had driven by the scene of the accident shortly after the accident and had seen there Mr. Stansfield, who was one of the defendants' witnesses. Plaintiff at the time of the motion for new trial did not in any way support her contention of jury misconduct but based her motion merely upon her own assertion of such fact as she does in this appeal. The fact alone that no affidavits or any other type of evidence is before the trial court or this Court is sufficient to defeat appellant's contentions in her Point III. Respondents have previously in their Point I cited the Utah authorities for the proposition that evidence not before the trial court is not properly before the Supreme Court. In this situation there is not any evidence other than the hearsay and self-serving assertions of the appellant.

Respondents note, however, that even had the appellant submitted affidavits to the trial court supporting the allegations of jury misconduct it is clear under the Utah law that such affidavits also would be incompetent evidence of such misconduct. In Rule 59 (A) 2 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the policy of the State of Utah as to impeaching jury verdicts is set down; and there it is provided that jury misconduct is provable, and then only by affidavit, in two situations: where there has been a quotient or chance verdict, and where the verdict is a result of bribery. It was early established in the Utah jurisprudence that it was contrary to the public policy and the statutes of the State of Utah to allow the verdict of a jury to be impeached for jury misconduct after it was entered unless it came within the two above-prescribed exceptions. *People vs. Flynn*, 75 Utah 378, 26 Pac. 1114 (1891); *Homer vs. Intermountain Abstract Company*, 9 Utah 193, 33 Pac. 700; *Hepworth vs. Covey Bros. Amusement Company*, 97 Utah 205, 91 Pac. 2nd 507 (1939); *Morrison vs. Perry*, 104 Utah 151, 140 Pac. 2nd 772 (1943); *Wheat vs. Denver & R. G. W. R. Company*, 122 Utah 418, 250 Pac. 2nd 932 (1952); and the latest affirmance of this rule is in the case of *Smith vs. Barnett*, 17 Utah 2nd 240, 408 Pac. 2nd 709 (1965).

The appellant has failed to show that the alleged misconduct prejudiced the verdict against her. In the case of *Redd vs. Airway Motor Coach Lines, Inc.*,

104 Utah 9, 137 Pac. 2nd 374 (1943), this Court stated on page 22 of the Utah Reports:

“In denying the motion for new trial on the ground of misconduct on the part of the jury, the trial court did not abuse its discretion, even assuming that on the showing made a contrary ruling could be sustained.”

Respondents feel further argument is not necessary along these lines inasmuch as it is clear that in the first place there being no competent evidence before the trial court or before this Court of misconduct, such issue is therefore non-existent. However, it is obvious that even assuming that such misconduct did occur and also assuming that the plaintiff had proof of such misconduct, it would nevertheless be incompetent evidence; and under the undisputed law of the State of Utah, the verdict would stand, and the trial court would, under the rule in the *Redd* case, be sustained in its denial of the appellant's motion for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

There is clearly no basis for a new trial upon the grounds raised by the appellant. The issue of misconduct is obviously improperly before the Court and is asserted without any basis. The issue concerning the appellant's allegations concerning the intersection merely resolves itself down to whether there was any evidence upon which the jury could find

that it was an intersection, assuming they did. The bulk of the appellant's argument under Point I is also improperly before the Court inasmuch as it was not evidence before the trial court at any stage of the proceedings and therefore should not be considered on appeal. The evidence as set forth shows that there was an intersection at the junction of U.S. 40 and the Lake Boren Roads, that this intersection was obvious to any reasonable driver from at least one-tenth of a mile away, and that it was indicated by the clearly marked acceleration and deceleration lanes and stop signs on both sides of the Lake Boren Road. The fact that the Lake Boren Road obviously met the test of being a public road or highway by definition makes its junction with Highway 40 an intersection within the contemplation of the Utah Law, and the above-mentioned markings and signs supplement the basis for finding that the intersection was an "intersection." Respondents also contend that the appellant cannot claim error in regard to the instructions for the reason that in her pleadings she has pleaded that the intersection was an intersection at all times and in fact asked for instructions from the court which referred to the junction as an intersection.

Respondents respectfully submit that the appellant's contentions for a new trial and now for relief

on appeal are groundless and that the verdict of the jury and the trial court's denial of the motion for a new trial should be affirmed.